I. INTRODUCTION 

Appellant Georgiana Arnold seeks direct reVIew of an issue of 

paramount importance to Washington civil servants who successfully 

bring actions to recover wages owed to them and seek to recover their 

attorney fees incurred in such actions. l After winning her case before the 

Seattle Civil Service Commission ("CSC") and recovering wages owed to 

her, Arnold brought suit under RCW 49.48.030 to recover her attorney 

fees, relying primarily upon this Court's decision in Int'l Ass 'n of Fire 

Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002) 

(hereinafter "Fire Fighters"), a case allowing recovery of attorney fees 

where a fire fighter successfully recovered back wages in an arbitration 

proceeding and later filed a court action to recover attorney fees. Noting 

that this Court had reserved the issue of whether actions other than 

arbitrations, such as civil service proceedings, were "actions" within the 

meaning of RCW 49.48.030,2 the trial court entered orders on cross 

I Because the trial court's order of summary judgment was based exclusively on the 
interpretation ofRCW 49.48.030, the trial court's decision presents a question oflaw and 
statutory interpretation which is reviewed de novo. City of Pasco v. PERC, 119 Wn.2d 
504,507,833 P.2d 381 (1992). 
2 This is yet another reason for this Court to review this case directly rather than remand 
it to the appellate court. That court would have to speculate as to this Court's reason for 
reserving the issue as to whether RCW 49.48.030 extends to proceedings other than 
arbitration whereas this Court presumably knows why it reserved that issue. Direct 
review thus better serves judicial efficiency and prevents the extra cost and delay to the 
litigants. 
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motions that denied Arnold's motion for summary judgment and granted 

the respondent City of Seattle's ("City") motion to dismiss. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment of Error: 

The trial court erred in dismissing Arnold's action for attorney fees 

based on RCW 49.48.030 and Fire Fighters . 

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error: 

Are civil service proceedings "actions" within the meamng of 

RCW 49.48.030, gIVen the strong public policy inherent in RCW 

49.48.030 favoring awards of attorney fees to employees recovering 

wages owed, as articulated by this Court in Fire Fighters? 

III. STATEMENT OF CASE 

At all times relevant to this appeal, Georgiana Arnold was an 

employee of the City, working with Aging and Disability Services, a 

division of the Seattle Human Services Department ("HSD") CP 002. On 

September 1, 2011 , Arnold was discharged from her manager position, 

and subsequently was demoted to an entry-level position with a substantial 

pay cut. Id. She filed a timely appeal to the CSC, which in tum assigned 

the case to a Hearing Examiner. Id. 

Because the City was represented before the CSC by an attorney 

from the City Attorney's Office, Arnold felt that she too had to retain 
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counsel. CSCR 1_4.3 The parties then engaged in written discovery and 

depositions, albeit limited in number by the Hearing Examiner. CSCR 92-

93. 

On November 1, 2011, the Hearing Examiner entered her 

Prehearing Order scheduling the hearing for January 17, 2012. CP 009. 

Inasmuch as the issue was whether Arnold's demotion was for justifiable 

cause, the City proceeded with its case first. Id. 4 It called 11 witnesses, 

and Ms. Arnold's counsel had the opportunity to cross-examine them. Id. 

At the end of the City's case, Arnold presented her case. Id. The Hearing 

Examiner made evidentiary rulings, although she was not bound by the 

superior court rules of evidence. 5 Id. Witnesses were sworn, exhibits 

introduced, and a recording was made of the proceedings. Id. The Hearing 

Examiner heard testimony on eight days over a three-month period, and 

requested simultaneous briefing by the parties. Id. On July 24, 2012, the 

Hearing Examiner issued her written decision reversing HSD's discipline 

of Arnold and ordering that she be reinstated to her former position and 

that she receive unpaid wages and benefits (CSCR 2772-2796). See 

3 The term: "CSCR" with a number thereafter refers to the Civil Service Commission 
record of proceedings submitted to the trial court. 
4 This is the same procedure used in arbitration hearings to determine whether an 
employer had just cause for the challenged discipline. See: Elkouri & Elkouri, How 
Arbitration Works, 4th edition, BNA, Washington, D.C., p. 266 . 
5 Similarly, arbitrators are not strictly bound by the rules of evidence. See: Elkouri & 
Elkouri, id. at 296. 
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Appendix. Arnold thereafter submitted her petition for an award of 

attorney fees along with supporting documentation (CSCR 2798-2702), 

but the Hearing Examiner denied a fee award. CP 094-095. 

Arnold filed a timely petition for review with the CSC, supported 

by declarations from Arnold and Virginia Adams, another HSD employee 

involved in the Civil Service hearing. CSCR 2893-2900. On September 

13, 2012, the CSC entered an order denying Arnold's fee petition (CSCR 

2982-83). She then timely filed an action in the King County Superior 

Court, seeking an award of attorney fees pursuant to RCW 49.48.030. 

Both parties filed dispositive cross-motions before the trial court. 

CP 008-020; 096-103. After considering applicable precedent, the trial 

court, the Honorable Catherine Shaffer, determined that in Fire Fighters, 

this Court had not expressly applied RCW 49.48.030 to civil service cases 

and thus denied an award of attorney fees, but held that the case involved 

"a fundamental and urgent issue of public import which requires prompt 

and ultimate determination." CP 094-095. Arnold's timely appeal to this 

Court followed. CP 194-197. 

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

RCW 49.48.030 is a remedial statute that applies broadly to all 

actions in which employees recover wages wrongfully withheld by their 

employer and entitles them to recover reasonable attorney fees and 

4 
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expenses. Given this Court's detennination in Fire Fighters that the 

arbitration of a grievance resulting in the reversal of a disciplinary action 

with an award of back wages was an "action," where, as here, a civil 

servant recovers back pay as a result of a civil service proceeding, the trial 

court should have awarded her fees and expenses, as mandated by RCW 

49.48.030. 

v. ARGUMENT 

A. RCW 49.48.030 Is A Remedial Statute Intended To Apply 
Broadly to All Proceedings in Which \Vages Are Recovered. 

The Washington wage statute, RCW 49.48.030 provides that: "In 

any action in which any person is successful in recovering judgment for 

wages or salary owed to him [sic], reasonable attorney fees ... shall be 

assessed against said employer. .. " RCW 49.48.030 is a remedial statute 

that courts construe broadly and liberally in favor of persons recovering 

unpaid wages. Int 'I Ass 'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 

Wn.2d 29; 35,42 P.3d 1265 (2002); Leitz v. Hansen Law Offices, 166 Wn. 

App. 571, 595, 271 P.3d 899 (2012). Courts construing RCW 49.48.030 

have expressly stated that awarding attorney fees under the remedial 

statute provides employees both an incentive and the means to assert their 

rights. Fire Fighters (quoting Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 

673, 880 P.2d 988 (1994)); see id. at 150 (noting that by providing for 
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attorney fees, RCW 49.48.030 pennits "employees to pursue claims even 

though the amount of recovery may be small"). 

In Fire Fighters, this Court addressed the availability of attorney 

fees under RCW 49.48.030 for employees who recovered back pay in 

arbitration. Id. at 32. In a prior proceeding, an arbitrator had found that 

the Fire Fighters employees had been suspended without pay in violation 

of a collective bargaining agreement. Id. The arbitrator therefore awarded 

back pay for the period of the suspension. Id. The union that had 

represented the employees during the arbitration sought attorney fees in a 

separate superior court action under 49.48 .030, and the matter ultimately 

proceeded to this Court. This Court found that the union was entitled to 

attorney fees pursuant to the statute. Id. 

Similarly, in Hanson v. City of Tacoma, 105 Wn.2d 864, 867, 872, 

719 P .2d 104 (1986), this Court affinned an award of attorney fees under 

RCW 49.48.030 to an employee who was suspended for more than the 

thirty days allowed under the City of Tacoma civil service rules and 

successfully challenged the discipline. A portion of the wage recovery at 

issue in that case was from a period of time when the employee was 

demoted to a lower-paying position in connection with a suspension. Id. 

The present case involves the recovery of back pay equivalent to 

the wages at issue in Fire Fighters and Hanson. The Fire Fighters and 
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Hanson employees sought to recover pay withheld during a suspension 

that was unsupported by their collective bargaining agreement and/or 

applicable civil service rules, respectively. Similarly, Arnold succeeded in 

recovering wages that were owed to her because her demotion was not 

permitted by the City of Seattle personnel rules. Further, Hanson confirms 

that back pay resulting from an unsupported demotion is equivalent to 

back pay recovery from a suspension for purposes of RCW 49.48.030. 

Therefore, just as in Fire Fighters, Arnold here has established wage 

recovery to support an action under RCW 49.48.030. 

Nonetheless, the trial court declined to apply RCW 49.48.030, 

noting that this Court had reserved the question of whether the statute 

applied to proceedings other than arbitration Fire Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 

42, n. 11. In so doing, the trial court contravened the requirement of 

statutory interpretation that remedial legislation such as RCW 49.48.030 

"be given a liberal construction; exemptions from its coverage 'are 

narrowly construed and applied only to situations which are plainly and 

unmistakably consistent with the terms and spirit of the legislation,'" 

Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 870, 

281 P.3d 289 (2012), quoting Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 

Wn.2d 291, 301, 996 P.2d 582 (2000); accord: Becerra et at. v. Expert 
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Janitorial, LLC, Wn. App. -' 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2166 

(9116113) at ~20 . 

The trial court thus erred by narrowly construing the wage statute 

as exempting civil service proceedings from its attorney fee provisions. 

As shown below, civil service proceedings are not "situations which are 

plainly and unmistakably [in]consistent with the terms and spirit of the 

legislation." Id. The "terms" ofRCW 49.48.080 repeatedly have been held 

to apply to a host of similar situations in which an employee recovers 

wages owed. See, e.g., Hanson v. City of Tacoma, 105 Wn.2d 864, 867, 

872, 719 P.2d 104 (1986) (civil service board); McIntyre v. Washington 

State Patrol, 135 Wn.App. 594, 141 P.3d 75 (2006) (trial board); Hayes v. 

Trulock, 51 Wn.App. 795, 735 P.2d 830 (1988), rev. denied, 111 Wn.2d 

1015 (1988); Fire Fighters, supra (arbitration). 

Courts have applied RCW 49.48 .030 where a variety of types of 

financial remuneration was involved. See e.g. Gaglidari v. Denny's Rests. , 

Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991) (back pay); Hayes, supra 

(front pay); Naches Valley Sch. Dist. JT3 v. Cruzen, 54 Wn. App. 388, 

390,399,775 P.2d 960 (1989) (sick leave); Dautel v. Heritage Home Ctr., 

Inc., 89 Wn. App. 148, 948 P.2d 397 (1997), review denied, 135 Wn.2d 

1003 (1998) (stipulated and contested commissions); Fraser v. Edmonds 

Community College, 136 Wn.App. 51 , 147 P.3d 631 (2006) (breach of 
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promise damages). RCW 49.48.030 has als~ been held to apply to cases 

brought pursuant to diverse legal theories. See e.g.: Hayes, supra 

(wrongful discharge); Hanson, supra (violation of local ordinance); 

Gaglidari, supra (breach of contract); Fraser, supra (promissory 

estoppel). In sum, this case does not constitute a "situation which [is] 

plainly and unmistakably [in] consistent with the terms ... of the 

legislation." Anfinson, supra. 

Nor could recovery Arnold's attorney fees be properly considered 

inconsistent with the "spirit" of RCW 49.48.030. As this Court said in 

Fire Fighters: 

We have previously recognized Washington's "long and 
proud history of being a pioneer in the protection of 
employee rights." Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 
140 Wn.2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582 (2000). The Legislature 
"evidenced a strong policy in favor of payment of wages 
due employees by enacting a comprehensive [statutory] 
scheme to ensure payments of wages." Schilling v. Radio 
Holdings, Inc., 136 Wn.2d 152, 157, 961 P.2d 371 (1998) 
(referencing RCW 49.48.030). "[A]ttorney fees are 
authorized under the remedial statutes to provide incentives 
for aggrieved employees to assert their statutory rights .... " 
Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 673, 880 P.2d 
988 (1994). Furthermore, remedial statutes "should be 
liberally construed to advance the Legislature's intent to 
protect employee wages and assure payment." Ellerman, 
143 Wn.2d at 520. Therefore, the terms ofRCW 49.48.030 
must be interpreted to effectuate this purpose. 

146 Wn.2d at 35. 
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In McIntYTe, supra at 603-604, the State argued that "[b ]ecause 

McIntYTe's action stemmed from a statutory appeal, not an arbitration 

proceeding under the CBA, ... McIntYTe is not entitled to attorney fees." 

The Court of Appeals properly rejected the State's argument because it 

"could discourage officers from bringing an action when there is a 

question of discipline that results in loss of wages or salary," contrary to 

the broad remedial purpose of RCW 49.48.030. The same rationale is 

applicable here. 

If civil servants are denied recovery of attorney fees for 

successfully challenging wrongful discipline and thereby recovering 

wrongfully withheld wages, the public policy ofRCW 49.48.030 would be 

undermined. Proper interpretation of this remedial statute demands 

reversal of the trial court herein. 

B. The Civil Service Hearing at Issue in the Present Case Was 
Sufficiently Similar to a Court Proceeding or an Arbitration to 
Constitute an "Action" for Purposes of the Remedial RC\V 
49.48.030. 
The statutory entitlement to fees for actions to recover wages is not 

limited to court proceedings, but extends to arbitrations and equivalent 

procedures resulting in factual findings and legal conclusions. For 

example, in Hitter v. Bellevue School District No. 405, 66 Wn. App. 391, 

396, 832 P.2d 130, review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1013 (1992), the Court of 

Appeals said: "We find nothing in RCW 49.48 indicating that an 

10 



arbitration proceeding is not an 'action' or that an arbitration award is not 

a 'judgment'." Accord, Hayes, supra; Fire Fighters Local 46, supra 

(arbitration); Hanson, supra (civil service proceedings). 

In Fire Fighters, this Court explained its basis for defining 

"action" broadly to include arbitrations. First, RCW 49.48.030 is a 

remedial statute that "must be construed to effectuate its purpose." Fire 

Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 34. It then described that the purpose of the statute 

is to support the recovery of wages or salary owed to employees and to 

require the payment of attorney fees in the event that an employee 

succeeds in recovering wages. Id. at 35 (describing Washington's "long 

and proud history of being a pioneer in the protection of employee 

rights"). The Court noted that, absent the award of attorney fees available 

under RCW 49.48.030, employees effectively would be precluded from 

remedying the non-payment of wages in small amounts. Id. at 50.6 

6 As a practical matter, low- and middle-wage employees would generally be unable to 
remedy even substantial wrongful withholding because even if the ultimate recovery 
would outweigh the fees and costs associated with such a claim, the up-front costs often 
would be too great. That was certainly true here. Arnold is a single woman, close to 
retirement age, with limited resources. (CSCR 2907). Arnold believed that she could not 
have prevailed without an attorney representing her. Indeed, she believes it highly 
unlikely that any civil service employee could vindicate rights without counsel. As she 
noted in her declaration: 

City employees appealing to the [CSC] are not attorneys, have no legal 
training, and are generally unfamiliar with how to litigate a civil service 
appeal. Yet apparently each is expected to go into battle alone against City 
attorneys who have long experience before the Commission. Without an 
attorney to represent the civil service employee, the decks are stacked against 
the employee. This is especially true since the civil service employer has the 

11 



In the course of interpreting the statutory tenn "action" to 

encompass arbitrations, the Fire Fighters Court highlighted certain 

characteristics shared by judicial and arbitration proceedings. The Court 

noted that arbitrations are subject to requirements of due process, 

equivalent to a "traditional judicial action." Id. at 38. Critically, 

"arbitrators, when acting under the broad authority granted them by both 

the agreement of the parties and the statutes, become the judges of both 

the law and the facts." Id. (quoting Boyd v. Davis, 127 Wn.2d 256, 263, 

897 P.2d 1239 (1995) and N State Constr. Co. v. Banchero, 63 Wn.2d 

245, 249-50, 386 P.2d 396 (1963) (per curiam)). The fact that arbitrators 

are subject to different standards of 'Judicial conduct and efficiency" than 

judicial officers did not prevent this Court from concluding that the overall 

process was "in the nature of a judicial inquiry" and fell within the notion 

of an "action" for purposes ofRCW 49.48.030. Id. (quoting Banchero, 63 

Wn.2d at 248). In each instance, the factors that supported interpreting 

"action" to include arbitrations mandate the same conclusion here. 

(Jd.) . 

advantage of City resources and attorneys. Without counsel, the scales of 
justice are skewed against the civil service employee. 
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c. Policy Reasons Require That the Issue Left Open in Fire 
Fighters Should Now Be Resolved in Favor of the 'Wronged 
Employee 

Both the remedial nature of RCW 49.48.030 and the practical 

similarities between the arbitration process at issue in Fire Fighters and 

the civil service proceeding at issue here support a determination that the 

present proceeding is an "action" under RCW 49.48.030. Although this 

Court expressly left open the question of whether "action" reached other 

administrative and quasi-judicial proceedings in Fire Fighters, the holding 

and reasoning of that case applies with equal force in the present context. 

See Id. at 42 n. 11. Like arbitration, the present civil service hearing was 

"a substitute for judicial action." See: Id. at 38; See also, Grays Harbor 

County v. Williamson, 96 Wn.2d 147, 152-153, 634 P.2d 296 (1981) 

(citing Thorgaard Plumbing & Heating Co. v. King County, 71 Wn.2d 

126,131-132,426 P.2d 828 (1967)). 

The CSC hearing in this case entailed 8 days of testimony from 15 

witnesses, including traditional direct and cross-examination. (CSCR 

1593-94, 1597, 1600, 1605-06, 1613-14, 1616, 1623-24, 2772). The 

proceedings were preserved through an audio transcript. Leading up to the 

hearing, the parties conducted discovery and exchanged witness and 

exhibit lists. (See, e.g.: CSCR 909 - 914). The City's hearing exhibits 

totaled more than 1,000 pages. (CSCR 1631-2771).The Hearing Examiner 
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also received and ruled on motions. (See, e.g.: CSCR 23-24, 900-908). For 

example, prior to the trial, she issued an order that analyzed the contours 

of attorney-client privilege under Washington law and assessed whether 

and under what circumstances Arnold could call a particular witness. 

(CSCR 1191-1195). 

Hearing examiners, like arbitrators "become the judges of both the 

law and the facts." See Fire Fighters, 146 Wn.2d at 38; see also Boyd, 127 

Wn.2d at 263 (quoting Banchero, 63 Wn.2d at 249-50). In the present 

case, at the conclusion of the hearing, the Hearing Examiner considered 

extensive written briefing from both parties in lieu of oral closing 

arguments. She then issued a twenty-five page order, which included 

eighty-one numbered paragraphs entitled "findings of fact" and an 

additional forty-one paragraphs of conclusions, followed by a "Decision 

and Order" requiring the City to reinstate Arnold to her position and to 

compensate her with back pay. (CSCR 2772-2796). In short, the civil 

service proceeding at issue here was "in the nature of a judicial inquiry" 

equivalent to the arbitration considered in Fire Fighters. See 146 Wn.2d at 

38; see also Banchero, 63 Wn.2d at 248 . 

Further, the policy considerations raised in Fire Fighters apply 

equally in the present context of a civil service proceeding; i.e. "A 

restrictive interpretation of 'action' [precluding] recovery of attorney fees 
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· .. would be inconsistent with the legislative policy in favor of payment of 

wages due employees." 146 Wn.2d at 41. In sum, this court should now 

make clear that the civil service hearing herein is akin to a judicial 

proceeding to which RCW 49.48.030 would apply. 

D. Nothing in Existing Case Law Derogates From the Conclusion 
That RCW 49.48.030 Applies Broadly to Actions to Recover 
\Vages, Such As That Herein. 

The application of RCW 49.48.030 has been limited in only two 

appellate decisions relied upon herein by the City: Cohn v. Department of 

Corrections, 78 Wn. App 63; 895 P.2d 857 (1995), and Trachtenberg v. 

Washington State Department o/Corrections, 122 Wn. App. 491,93 P. 3d 

217 (2004), review denied, 103 P.3d 801 (2004). As indicated below, 

each of these cases is distinguishable and contrary to compelling legal 

precedent as set forth in Fire Fighters and Hanson. 

In Cohn, a state employee who had recovered back pay from the 

state Personnel Appeals Board ("P AB") requested recovery of his attorney 

fees. The P AB denied the request. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals ruled

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