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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Ms. Arnold was provided an administrative forum to 
recover any wages due for unsupported discipline and 
she is limited to the remedies provided in the civil 
service code. 
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Unlike many employees, Ms. Arnold has the right to challenge her 

disciplinary demotion in a forum that does not require her to incur any 

expense. She was able to appeal with a simple three-page form, without a 

filing fee. 2 She was provided the right to get relevant discovery, to be paid 

for some of her time at her hearing, to compel attendance of witnesses and 

to cross examine all witnesses offered by the City in support of its 

disciplinary decision. SMC 4.04.250; SMC 4.20.225; City Charter, Art. 

XVI. The City'S Civil Service Commission may affirm, reverse, modify, 

or remand the department's disciplinary decision. Civil Service Rule 

5.32(B).3 None of these rights requires the representation of an attorney, 

but appellants may be represented by counsel "at hislher own expense". 

SMC 4.04.260. This limitation should be enforced because employees 

with civil service rights are able to recover wages without resort to a civil 

lawsuit and without the cost of an attorney.4 

In fact, the employment relationship between government 

employer and civil servant creates the expectation a civil servant will seek 

wages in the administrative forum before proceeding to superior court. 

2 See note I, supra. 

3 Civil Service Rules are published at http://www.seattle.gov/csc/rules.htm. 

4 Arnold's belief that she could not prevail without an attorney is without foundation and 
speculative. The City only utilized its legal counsel because Arnold filed her appeal to 
discipline through an attorney. CP 158. 
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Reninger v. State, 79 Wn. App. 623, 632 (1995) ("the Legislature intended 

that a civil service employee utilize [civil service remedies] before gaining 

access to the superior court for additional remedies"), aff'd on other 

grounds, 134 Wn.2d 437 (1998); Riccobono v. Pierce County, 92 Wn. 

App. 254, 263-264 (1998) (A civil servant must exhaust administrative 

remedies before proceeding to superior court) . The exhaustion 

requirement makes perfect sense because it avoids the delay and expense 

of civil litigation, while providing a forum for relief that "at will" 

employees lack. "At will" employees go to court to recover wages because 

they have no other choice. 

In return for a low cost and speedy civil service forum 5, there are 

limitations on remedies. State employees are entitled to a representative of 

their choice in civil service proceedings, but provided a limited list of 

remedies. See RCW 41.06.170 (right to appeal discipline through authorized 

representative); RCW 41.06.220 (remedies include back pay, sick leave, 

vacation accrual, retirement and OASDI credits). Likewise, City employees 

have the same right to appeal discipline, but remedies are not specifically 

5 The appellant conducted extensive discovery, wasted time drafting unnecessary 
motions, and generally drove up the costs of the hearing while losing nearly every 
argument she presented, including the claim that her poor performance was not 
misconduct and could not be disciplined. CP 157-59, 113-137. The hearing examiner 
partially adopted her claim that the level of discipline was too severe. CP 130-137. 
Certainly, the matter could have proceeded with far less expense, use of resources and 
without legal counsel. It was Arnold's notice of appearance through legal counsel that 
caused the City to appear through its legal counsel. CP 15 8, ~ 3. 
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identified in the code. SMC 4.04.250(L)(5). Instead, the Commission is 

provide authority to "issue such remedial orders as it deems appropriate", 

but specifically precluded from awarding payment for legal representation. 

Id.; SMC 4.04.260. Washington courts enforce the limitation of remedies in 

cases like this one: a civil servant who files a lawsuit purely to collect 

attorney's fees they cannot get under the civil service code. 

In Cohn v. Department 0/ Corrections, 78 Wn. App. 63, 69 (1995) 

the court held: 

Because an attorney fee award for a successful 
administrative appeal is not listed as one of the 'rights and 
benefits ' specifically afforded to an aggrieved employee in 
RCW 4l.06.220(2) [the State civil service code], attorney 
fees-like interest on back pal-cannot be recoverable in 
an administrative appeal of state agency disciplinary action. 
Thus, not only does the Board lack authority to award 
attorney fees, but a fully reinstated state employee does not 
appear to possess the right to receive attorney fees after a 
successful administrative appeal. 

Later, in Trachtenberg v. Washington State Dept. o/Corrections, 122 Wn. 

App. 491 , 493-497, review denied, 103 PJd 801 (2004), the court denied a 

request for attorney's fees from a state employee who successfully 

reduced his termination to a demotion before the State's Personnel 

Appeals Board. Trachtenberg was entitled to back pay from the Board, but 

the Board denied his request for attorney's fees because state civil service 

6 Arnold also sought interest on wages in her superior court complaint, despite the fact 
there is no provision for interest in the City's civil service code. CP 3, Count II. 
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code does not provide authority to award that remedy. Trachtenberg v. 

Washington State Dept. of Corrections, 122 Wn. App. 492. The Court of 

Appeals affirmed the denial of attorney's fees, noting the difference 

between an employee who must file suit to collect his wages and a civil 

servant who is challenging a disciplinary decision. Id. at 496-98. The case 

for denying Ms. Arnold's claim for attorney's fees is even stronger than 

for state civil servants because the City's statutory scheme affirmatively 

rejects the award of attorney's fees . SMC 4.04.260. 

The powers of an administrative agency are derived from statutory 

authority expressly granted or necessarily implied." State ex reI. 

Evergreen Freedom Foundation v. Wash. Educ. Assoc., 140 Wn.2d 615, 

634 (2000). Administrative agencies do not possess "inherent authority." 

Assoc. of Wash. Business v. Dep't of Revenue, 155 Wn.2d 430, 445 

(2005). "[W]here implied authority to grant or impose a particular remedy 

is not clearly set forth in the statutory language or its broad implication, 

the courts of this state have been reluctant to find such authority on the 

part of an agency." Skagit Surveyors and Engineers v. Friends of Skagit 

County, 135 Wn.2d 542, 558 (1998). Because Seattle's Municipal Code 

prohibits payment of attorney's fees in civil service appeals, neither the 

Commission nor this Court has authority to award this remedy. 
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A code-based legal right may be limited to the remedies provided 

in the enabling code. Woodbury v. City of Seattle, 172 Wn. App. 747, rev. 

denied, 177 Wn.2d 1018 (20l3) (enforcing the City's code provisions 

limiting whistleblowers to an administrative forum and precluding claims 

for emotional distress damages). Arnold's suggestion that RCW 49.48.030 

somehow trumps the City's code presumes a conflict that does not exist. 

It is true that Washington's wage claim statute is broadly interpreted with 

an eye toward guaranteeing anyone denied their wages a means of 

obtaining counsel to enforce those rights. Again, this is a necessary 

interpretation for the protection of "at will" employees, who lack the 

safety net inherent in the City'S civil service system. 

As further explained below, our appellate courts have harmonized 

rights conferred in civil service codes with RCW 49.48.030. Employees 

who obtain all relief in the administrative forum, and none from superior 

court, may not institute a lawsuit solely to recover attorney's fees. See 

Trachtenberg, 493-97. But civil servants who obtain additional relief in 

superior court, such as reversal of disciplinary action, meet the criterion in 

RCW 49.48.030. They have ajudgment for wages, from a court, in a civil 

action and receive attorney's fees from the court issuing the judgment. 
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McIntyre v. State, 135 Wn. App. 594, 600-601 (2006); Hanson v. City of 

Tacoma, 105 Wn.2d 864, 872 (1986).7 

The City's code precluding attorney's fees is also consistent with 

the notion that application of RCW 49.48.030 can be limited by contract. 

"An employer could still avoid an award of attorney fees by specifically 

providing in the collective bargaining agreement that each side pay their 

own fees and costs". International Ass 'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City 

of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 49 (2002). If contracting parties can agree not 

to apply RCW 49.48.030, then a public employer providing a speedy and 

inexpensive forum to dispute discipline can prohibit recovery of attorney's 

fees in its code defining civil service rights. The relationship between 

municipal employer and civil servant is also of a contractual nature. 

Riccobono v. Pierce County, 92 Wn. App. 264, n.25. The City's limitation 

of remedies should be enforced. Applying the plain language in the City's 

code, and considering all related authority, results in denial of Arnold's 

attorney's fees. 

7 The court decided that grievants in a labor arbitration could recover attorney 's fees in a 
superior court action without overruling Hanson or Cohn. International Ass 'n 0/ Fire 
Fighters, Local 46 v. City 0/ Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29 (2002). Two years later, the Court 
declined review of the same issue-twice-in the context of an action filed after a civil 
service appeal in Trachtenberg v. Washington State Dept. o/Corrections, 122 Wn. App. 
491, 492, review denied, 103 P.3d 801 (2004) (once on petition for direct review and 
again following a decision by the Court of Appeals). Presumably the Court already 
appreciates the distinction that Arnold chooses to ignore. 
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B. Arnold may not recover attorney's fees because she was 
fully compensated for back pay before filing her lawsuit 
and state code does not allow her to file suit seeking 
only attorney's fees. 

Arnold's authority for her fees is almost entirely based on her 

contention that the language in RCW 49.48.030 and International Ass 'n of 

Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29 (2002), require 

this result. RCW 49.48.030 has several elements: 1. the employee recovers 

a judgment for wages; 2. in an action; and 3. the amount awarded in the 

judgment is greater than what the employer concedes owing. In 

International Ass 'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, the union 

sought recovery of attorney's fees following an arbitration that resulted in 

back pay to the grievant. In finding that the union could recover fees, the 

Court distinguished the Cohn decision, which denied attorney's fees: 

Because Cohn addressed an appeal from a government 
agency, not an arbitration proceeding, it is distinguishable. 
In holding that the Board and the superior court had no 
authority to award attorney fees, Cohn was primarily 
relying on the statutory authority granted to the Board in 
chapter 41.64 RCW and Title 358 WAC. These statutes and 
rules apply to proceedings before the Board and not to 
labor arbitration proceedings. 

IAFF Local 46, at 42-43. Despite this significant difference, Arnold relies 

heavily on Firefighters to argue that a civil service hearing is both "an 

action" and that its order lessening discipline is a "judgment for wages", in 
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order to invoke the attorney's fees provision in RCW 49.48.030. She is 

wrong. 

First, the Commission lacks authority to issue a judgment, because 

only a court has the authority to so. See Larsen v. Farmers Ins. Co., 80 Wn. 

App. 259, 265-66 (1996). While certainly important to a civil servant, the 

Commission's ruling does not meet the accepted definition of a judgment. 

"A judgment is the final determination of the rights of the parties in the 

action." CR 54(a)(1). This definition has persisted, by statute and court rule, 

since territorial days. Reif v. LaFollette, 19 Wn.2d 366, 369 (1943). 

Although a judgment "need not be in any particular form," a judgment must 

be in writing and signed by the judge. CR 54(a)(1); State ex rei. Lynch v. 

Pettijohn, 34 Wn.2d 437, 446 (1949). Here, the final order denying fees is 

approved by the Commission's Executive Director, on behalf of the 

Commission, none of whom is identified as ajudge. CP 143-44. 

Nor is her civil service appeal equivalent to a court "action". Arnold 

is correct in asserting that Firefighters applies a legal dictionary definition 

for "action" and concludes that the language in RCW 49.48.030 does not 

prevent the classification of arbitration as "an action". IAFF Local 46 at 41. 

When extending the meaning of "action" to include arbitration, the court 

justified its expansion based on the judicial nature of arbitration. !d. at 41-

42. But the Supreme Court also holds that arbitration "has been deemed a 
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substitute for judicial action. It is a procedure designed to reach settlement 

of controversies, by extra-judicial means, before they reach a point at which 

one must resort to judicial action". Grays Harbor County v. Williamson, 96 

Wn.2d 147, 153 (1981), citing Thorgaard Plumbing & Heating Co. v. 

County oj King, 71 Wn.2d 126, 131-32 (1967). 

Certainly, civil service hearings are extra-judicial, involve the 

narrow issues of just cause discipline and are a required prerequisite to a 

judicial proceeding. Riccobono v. Pierce County, 92 Wn. App. 263-264. 

The distinct and limited civil service forum is not properly defined as an 

"action". Nor has Arnold established a judgment for wages. For both 

reasons, her request for attorney's fees should be denied. 

Appellate courts continue to distinguish between a civil servant who 

receives full compensation in the administrative proceeding and a civil 

servant who receives additional wages from the court action. The distinction 

is consistent with the limitation in RCW 49.48.030 that precludes a fee 

award when the employee fails to recover more than the employer concedes 

owing in the civil wage claim. Arnold relies on McIntyre v. State, 135 Wn. 

App. 594 (2006), to support her fee request. But McIntyre carefully explains 

why the result is different than in Cohn and Trachtenberg, in which 

appellants were denied attorney fees following disciplinary appeals. Cohn, 

like Arnold, did not receive any wages from his appeal to superior court, 
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and therefore did not get attorney's fees under RCW 49.30.030. McIntyre at 

601. McIntyre achieved reinstatement through the court, and therefore the 

court awarded relief including back pay. Id. at 604 ("We plainly awarded 

relief that the WSP did not grant. Under the rationale of Hanson, attorney 

fees should have been awarded because we modified the WSP's ruling by 

ordering full reinstatement, which included wages"). 

Similarly, in Hanson v. City of Tacoma, 105 Wn.2d 864, 872 

(1986), the court awarded attorney's fees because Hanson recovered wages 

for a greater number of days in a court action appealing the underlying 

discipline and therefore satisfied the standard under RCW 49.48.030. The 

distinction that emerges when all these cases are considered together is that 

when wages are awarded by the court, such as in Hanson and McIntyre, 

fees were awarded. In cases where the relief is granted by an administrative 

tribunal, like a civil service commission, the fee request was denied, as in 

the Cohn and Trachtenberg opinions. Ms. Arnold's claim is controlled by 

Trachtenberg. She makes no attempt at challenging her two-week 

suspension to get additional wages from the court. In fact, she is not even 

appealing the underlying ruling. Her simple wage claim must fail for all 

the forgoing reasons. 
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V. CONCLUSION 

The City has no quarrel with the general statements of law offered 

by Arnold, but they do not support the relief she seeks. Careful review of 

the code, appellate decisions, and the facts of Arnold's case lead to one 

conclusion: Arnold is not entitled to her exorbitant attorney's fees. RCW 

49.48.030 offers important rights that many employees could not enforce 

any other way. Arnold's remedies are limited to those authorized by City 

code. She knew or should have known at the outset of her representation 

that she would be responsible for this expense. The City respectfully 

requests the trial court be affirmed and Arnold's request for attorney's fees 

be denied.